

UPTEC W 23024 Examensarbete 30 hp June 2023



# Is two stage GAC better than one stage GAC for removing PFAS at a DWTP?

Investigation of PFAS removal from drinking water using two stage granular activated carbon (GAC) filter

Oliver Ekesiöö

Master's Programme in Environmental and Water Engineering



**UPPSALA** 

UNIVERSITET

SLU

Is two stage GAC better than one stage GAC for removing PFAS at a DWTP?

Oliver Ekesiöö



The removal of 34 per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) were compared in a 1 stage granular activated carbon (GAC) filtration to a 2 stage GAC filtration in a pilot study at a drinking water treatment plant (DWTP). The PFASs that were present in the water were perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA), perfluorooctane sulfonic acid (PFOS), perfluoropentanoic acid (PFPeA), perfluorohexanoic acid (PFHxA), perfluoroheptanoic acid (PFHpA), perfluorobutane sulfonic acid (PFBS), perfluoropentane sulfonic acid (PFPeS) and perfluorohexane sulfonic acid (PFHxS). A cost comparison for the operation of a one stage GAC to a two stage GAC was compared for PFAS<sub>4</sub> (sum of PFOA, PFNA, PFHxS and PFOS) at treatment goals ranging from 2 - 10 ng/L. The pilot was operated at three different flows and the three different bed volumes (BV)s resulting in three different empty bed contact times (EBCTs) at three different times. Therefore, the Lin & Huang adsorption model (1999) was used to model the concentrations at each EBCT. It was found that the model worked good for PFBS, PFPeS, PFHxS, PFOS and PFOA but not for PFPeA, PFHxA and PFHpA (except for PFPeA and PFHxA during EBCT 5 min) and did not work for desorbing PFASs. The removal comparison of PFASs was made, partly by comparing removal efficiencies between the first stage and the second stage GAC filter and by comparing the removal per weight of GAC per BV 1 stage and 2 stages. It was found that the removal efficiency decreases with decreasing chain length and increasing treated BVs for both the first stage and the second stage. The short chain PFCAs were also desorbing after a number of BVs. The removal per weight of GAC showed that the removal does not increase when comparing a one stage GAC to a two stage GAC for any the PFAS. The cost comparison was made using the adsorption model. It showed that it was cheaper to operate a 2 stage GAC for the EBCT of 5 minutes and 8 minutes for the whole range of treatment goals. However, for the EBCT of 15 minutes the costs for the second stage was decreasing with decreasing treatment goal which is unrealistic result. This was caused by too few data points available for the model to predict reliable results.

Keywords: GAC, PFAS, drinking water treatment, two stage GAC

Teknisk-naturvetenskapliga fakulteten Uppsala universitet, Utgivningsort Uppsala

Handledare: Philip McCleaf Ämnesgranskare: Lutz Ahrens Examinator: Fritjof Fagerlund



UPPSALA UNIVERSITET



## Sammanfattning

Avlägsning av 34 per- och polyfluorerade ämnen (PFAS) från vatten jämfördes i 1 stegs aktivt granulärt kolfilter (GAC) mot 2 stegs GAC i en pilotanläggning på ett dricksvattenverk i Uppsala. De PFAS-ämnen som fanns i vattnet var perfluoroktansyra (PFOA), perfluoroktansulfonsyra (PFOS), perfluorpentansyra (PFPeA), perfluorhexansyra (PFHxA), perfluorheptansyra (PFHpA), perfluorbutansulfonsyra (PFBS), perfluorpentansulfonsyra (PFPeS) och perfluorhexansulfonsyra (PFHxS). En kostnadsjämförelse mellan 1 stegs och 2 stegs GAC genomfördes för PFAS4 (summan av PFOA, PFNA, PFHxS och PFOS) för målkoncentrationer i dricksvattnet på 2-10 ng/l. På piloten användes 3 olika flöden vilket resulterade i tre olika kontakttider i bädden (EBCT) på 5, 8 och 15 minuter. Dessa EBCT var vid olika tider och därmed olika bäddvolymer (BV). Därför modellerades koncentrationer med hjälp av Lin & Huangs adsorptionsmodell (1999) för att ta reda på vilka koncentrationer som hade varit om samma EBCT hade varit under hela pilotens livslängd. Det konstaterades att modellen fungerade bra för PFBS, PFPeS, PFHxS PFOS och PFOA men inte för PFPeA, PFHxA och PFHpA (förutom PFPeA and PFHxA för EBCT 5 min) och inte heller för desorberande PFAS. Jämförelsen av avlägsning bestod dels i en jämförelse av avlägsningseffektivitet mellan första steg 1 och steg 2, samt en jämförelse av avlägsning per vikt av GAC per BV mellan 1 steg och 2 stegs GAC. Det visade sig att avlägsningseffektiviteten minskar med minskande längd på PFAS och ökande BV och att samma sak skedde för steg 1 och steg 2. De kortaste PFAS-ämnena desorberade efter ett antal BV. Jämförelsen av avlägsning per vikt av GAC visade att det inte var en mer effektiv avlägsning för två stegs jämfört med ett stegs GAC för något av PFAS-ämnena. Kostnadsjämförelsen genomfördes med hjälp av adsorptionsmodellen. Den visade på att det var billigare med 2 stegs GAC jämfört med ett stegs GAC för EBCT 5 minuter och 8 minuter för målkoncentrationerna 2-10 ng/L. Men kostnadsberäkningen för EBCT 15 minuter visade på minskande kostnader med minskande målkoncentrationer vilket är ett orealistiskt resultat orsakat av för få datapunkter tillgängliga för att kunna modellera tillförlitliga resultat.

Is two stage GAC better than one stage GAC for removing

PFAS at a DWTP?

Oliver Ekesiöö

#### Nyckelord: GAC, PFAS, dricksvatten, två stegs GAC

Teknisk-naturvetenskapliga fakulteten

Uppsala universitet, Utgivningsort Uppsala

Handledare: Philip McCleaf Ämnesgranskare: Lutz Ahrens Examinator: Fritjof Fagerlund

# Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

PFAS är en typ av kemikalie skapad av människor som idag finns i naturen genom produktion och användning av produkter innehållande PFAS. Sådana produkter är Teflon-stekpannor, brandskum, skidvalla, regnkläder och mycket mer. Kemikalien innehåller kol-fluor-bindningar i olika långa kedjor vilket ger upphov till dess önskade egenskaper av att vara vatten- och fettavstötande samt att klara av höga temperaturer. Men det gör också att den är svårnedbrytbar och är därmed persistent i naturen. PFAS hittas i dricksvatten på alla kontinenter på jorden och även i Uppsala. Det har visat sig hälsoskadligt att konsumera PFAS och att dricksvatten är det huvudsakliga intaget av för människor. Därför måste halten PFAS minska i dricksvattnet innan det når konsumenterna.

Att ta bort PFAS från vatten har visat sig vara svårt men det finns en handfull metoder. Den mest välanvända metoden är kolfiltrering genom granulärt aktivt kol (GAC) och denna används i Uppsala. Vattnet passerar genom ett GAC-filter, där PFAS-ämnen kan fastna, innan det blir dricksvatten. En fördel med denna metod är att de PFAS-ämnen som fastnat på kolet kan förångas i en process som kallas regenerering och då kan kolet användas igen. Ett problem med denna metod är att även om den är bra på att ta bort långkedjade PFAS så är den inte så bra på att ta bort kortkedjade PFAS<sub>4</sub>. Livsmedelsverket har sänkt gränsvärdet på PFAS4 (de 4 vanligaste PFAS-ämnena) i dricksvatten till 4 ng/l. Detta är ett lågt gränsvärde som blir svårt för dricksvattenverken att nå. En förändring av dricksvattenproduktionen som skulle kunna underlätta för vattenverket att nå gränsvärdet skulle kunna vara att låta vattnet passera genom två kolfilter. Ett pilotanläggning med sådan 2 stegs kolfiltrering har låtit byggas på ett dricksvattenverk i Uppsala.

I det här examensarbetet jämfördes effektivitet av borttagning av PFAS mellan 1stegs och 2 stegs kolfiltrering för långkedjade och kortkedjade PFAS. Dessutom beräknades kostnaden för att nå det nya gränsvärdet med 1 stegs och 2 stegs kolfiltrering med hjälp av modellering. Alla jämförelser och beräkningar baserades på de PFAS-ämnen som förekommer i råvattnet till Uppsalas dricksvattenverk. Det konstaterades att det inte blir mer effektiv borttagning av två steg för vare sig långkedjade eller kortkedjade PFAS. Effektiviteten av borttagning var som störst för de långkedjade PFAS och som lägst för de kortkedjade PFAS. Tre olika flöden på vattnet testades vid olika tidpunkter och dess påverkan utvärderades i den ekonomiska beräkningen. De tre flödena modellerades för hela testperioden för att ta reda på hur koncentrationen PFAS<sub>4</sub> som lämnade kolfiltrerena skulle utveckla sig om endast ett flöde hade använts för hela testperioden. För det högsta och mellersta flödet var det billigare med 2 steg än 1 steg men för det lägsta flödet kunde ingen jämförelse med säkerhet göras på grund av för lite data.

# Acknowledgement

I want to thank Philip McCleaf at Uppsala Vatten for creating a well functioning two stage pilot, for giving me the opportunity to write my master's thesis for Uppsala Vatten and for being of great help and support for me during the project. I also want to thank Lutz Ahréns at SLU for helping me navigate in writing my thesis and answering difficult questions regarding PFAS. Lastly, I want to thank all my class mates at the Masters program in water and environmental engineering at Uppsala University and SLU who made these 5 years of my life wonderful. Thank you!

# Glossary

- AC Activated carbon.
- AIX Anion exchange.
- **DWTP** Drinking water treatment plant.
- **EBCT** Empty bed contact time.
- GAC Granular activated carbon.
- **Legacy PFAS** The most produced and most common PFAS in the environment: PFOA and PFOS.
- PAC Powdered activated carbon.
- PFAS Per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances.
- PFAS precursors longer chained PFASs that can degrade into shorter chained.
- **PFAS**<sub>11</sub> The sum of PFAS<sub>4</sub> plus PFBA, PFPeA, PFHxA, PFHpA, PFDA, PFBS and 6:2 FTS.
- **PFAS**<sub>20</sub> The same as  $PFAS_{21}$  but without 6:2 FTS.
- **PFAS<sub>21</sub>** The sum of PFAS<sub>11</sub> plus PFUnDA, PFDoDA, PFTrDA, PFPeS, PFHpS, PFNS, PFDS, PFUnDS, PFDoDS and PFTrDS.
- PFAS<sub>4</sub> The sum of PFOS, PFOA, PFNA and PHFxS.
- **PFBS** Perfluorobutane sulfonic acid.
- PFCA Peryfluoroalkyl substances with carboxyl acid as functional group.
- PFHpA Perfluoroheptanoic acid.
- PFHxA Perfluorohexanoic acid.
- PFHxS Perfluorohexane sulfonic acid.
- PFOA Perfluorooctanoic acid.
- **PFOS** Perfluorooctane sulfonic acid.
- PFPeA Perfluoropentanoic acid.
- PFPeS Perfluoropentane sulfonic acid.
- PFSA Peryfluoroalkyl substances with sulfonic acid as functional group.
- RO Reverse osmosis.

# Contents

1	Intro	oduction	1				
	1.1	Aim	2				
2	Back	ground	2				
	2.1	What is PFAS?	2				
	2.2	PFAS in drinking water	3				
	2.3	What is GAC?	3				
		2.3.1 Adsorption using GAC	4				
	2.4	Model	5				
	2.5	Previous studies on PFAS adsorption onto GAC?	6				
3	Metl	nod	7				
	3.1	Pilot operations	7				
	3.2	Data handling	10				
	3.3	Bäcklösa DWTP	10				
	3.4	Sieving analysis	10				
	3.5	Removal efficiency calculations	11				
	3.6	Removal comparison of 1 stage to 2 stages	12				
	3.7	Cost calculation	12				
4	Resu	llt	16				
	4.1	Raw water and $PFAS_{21}$	16				
	4.2	Removal efficiencies	18				
	4.3	Modeling of PFSAs and PFCAs	20				
	4.4	Removal per weight of GAC per BV for 1 stage and 2 stages	22				
	4.5	Economic comparison of 1 stage to 2 stages for $PFAS_4$	23				
5	Disc	ussion	30				
	5.1	Raw water and $PFAS_{21}$	30				
	5.2	Removal efficiencies	30				
	5.3	Modeling of PFSAs and PFCAs	31				
	5.4	Removal per weight of GAC per BV for 1 stage and 2 stages	31				
	5.5	Economic comparison of 1 stage to 2 stages for PFAS	32				
6	Con	clusion	34				
Ap	Appendix						

# 1 Introduction

Per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) are a group of more than 9000 chemicals made by humans (EPA 2021). They consists of one or more C-atoms where the hydrogen atoms have been replaced by F-atoms and are connected to a functional group (Buck et al. 2011). Because of their wanted properties of being water and oil repellent and withstanding high temperatures, they have been widely used in industrial processes and products. However, they are also difficult and once released into nature they will hardly breakdown making them persistent (Dickman & Aga 2022). Therefore, they have been coined 'forever chemicals'. The widespread usage of these chemicals has lead to that they can now be detected in the environment, animals and humans. This is due to environmental release at production factories, from disposal of PFAS-containing products and from biotic and abiotic degradation of PFAS precursors.

The PFAS released into the environment can reach drinking water sources and is now found in drinking water all over the world (Domingo & Nadal 2019, Lapworth et al. 2018, Boiteux et al. 2017, Bartolomé et al. 2017, Schwanz et al. 2016, Wilhelm, Bergmann, & Dieter 2010, Lu et al. 2018, T. Wang et al. 2015, Kaboré et al. 2018, Liu et al. 2017, Eriksson et al. 2013). Humans can be exposed to PFAS through drinking water, inhalation of air, food and exposure to contaminated ground (Li et al. 2020). However, drinking water is considered one of the most significant sources of PFAS to the general public (D'Hollander et al. 2010). During the last decade, the number of toxicological studies on PFAS has increased (Pelch et al. 2022). Especially toxicology studies on humans. Most of these studies has been done on PFOA and PFOS, the so called Legacy PFAS (Dickman & Aga 2022). Results from epidemiological studies of humans being unintentionally exposed to PFAS shows linkage to different kinds of cancers, higher cholesterol levels, decreased liver function and significant birth defects. PFAS alters the immune system and makes it harder for people to respond to vaccines (Beans 2021). The short-chained PFASs however, are not as bioaccumulative as the long-chained (Zaggia et al. 2016) and have shorter half-lives in humans (Nicole 2020).

More strict regulations on PFAS are emerging on the production of drinking water (Livsmedelsverket 2022). This poses a great challenge for drinking water treatment plants (DWTP) to remove the PFAS before sending the water to its consumers. Conventional treatment at DWTPs such as coagulation/flocculation, filtration and/or disinfection does not remove PFAS efficiently (Appleman et al. 2014). Therefore there is need for efficient techniques such as anion exchange (AIX), activated carbon (AC) and reverse osmosis (RO) in order to decrease the concentration of PFAS in drinking water. In this master's thesis, PFAS adsorption onto granular activated carbon (GAC) was investigated. GAC is better at adsorbing long-chained PFASs than short chained PFASs (Karbassiyazdi et al. 2023). However, the short chain removal might be increased if a two-stage GAC filter is used and it might also be a cheaper option when reaching the new water treatment goals on drinking water.

# 1.1 Aim

- a Compare the removal of long and short chain PFAS at a two stage GAC pilot to a one stage pilot.
- b Compare the costs of operating a full scale one stage GAC to a two stage GAC at a DWTP with respect to different treatment goals for the EBCT of 5, 8 and 15 minutes.

# 2 Background

# 2.1 What is PFAS?

Per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) are a family of anthropogenic persistent organic pollutants which have been produced since the 1940s (Z. Wang et al. 2017). They have been and are used in many products thanks to their appreciated qualities of being water and oil repellent and withstanding high temperatures. Today they can be found in firefighting foam, food contact materials, cosmetics, inks, household products, water repellent clothing and many more (Swedish Chemicals Agency 2015).

As introduced earlier, PFASs are molecules that contain at least one perfluoroalkyl moiety  $C_n F_{2n+1^-}$  (Buck et al. 2011). Fluorine is the atom with the highest electronegativity in the periodic table (Silberberg 2013) making the C-F bond found in PFAS very strong resisting oxidation and thereby conserves electrons (Katam & Bhattacharyya 2022). To break this bond requires a lot of energy. PFASs can be divided into two groups; Polymeres and Non-polymers (Buck et al. 2011). The non-polymers consists of Perfluoroalkyl substances and Polyfluoroalkyl substances.

The water analyzed in this thesis only consisted of Perfluoroalkyl substances and they can be divided into two subgroups; perfluoroalkyl carboxylic acids (PFCA)s and perfluoroalkyl sulfonic acids (PFSA)s.

The PFCAs contain a carboxylic acid functional group and the PFSAs contain a sulfonate as its functional group. An example of a PFCA is perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA) that has a fluorinated chain length of 7 and an example of a PFSA is perfluorooctane sulfonic acid (PFOS) that has a fluorinated chain length of 8 carbons. Their chemical structure can be seen in table 1 where their functional group can be seen in the right end of the PFAS.



Table 1: Chemical structure of PFOA and PFOS

Except PFOA, the rest of the PFCAs found in the raw water of this study were Perfluoropentanoic acid (PFPeA), perfluorohexanoic acid (PFHxA), Perfluoroheptanoic acid (PFHpA) and except PFOS the rest of the PFSAs were perfluorobutane sulfonic acid (PFBS), perfluoropentane sulfonic acid (PFPeS) and perfluorohexane sulfonic acid (PFHxS). Franke et al. (2021) found that the PFAS with the highest concentration in the raw water in Uppsala is PFHxS, followed by PFOS and PFPeS.

# 2.2 PFAS in drinking water

Since 2016 the limit on PFAS in Swedish drinking water has been 90 ng/L for PFAS<sub>11</sub> (Enander 2015). However, as of the 1st of January 2026 the new limit in drinking water will be 4 ng/L for PFAS<sub>4</sub> (sum of the 4 most common PFASs) and 100 ng/L for PFAS<sub>21</sub> (sum of the 21 most common PFASs) (Livsmedelsverket 2022). This is a stricter limit than what is decided by the European parliament and of the council in the directive 2020/2184 on the quality of water intended for human consumption. The limit there is 500 ng/L for the sum of all PFASs and 100 ng/L for PFAS<sub>20</sub>. In Denmark, however, they are lowering the limit even more on PFAS<sub>4</sub> to 2 ng/L (Miljøstyrelsen 2021).

Conventional treatment steps at DWTPs have been proven ineffective in removing PFAS where ozonation even resulted in an increase in PFAS concentrations (Boiteux et al. 2017). Therefore, there is a need for advanced techniques, and some of these are ion exchange, adsorption, advanced oxidation process and membrane based separation (Yadav et al. 2022). However, even if the advanced oxidation have showed promising results there is no full removal of PFAS but rather reduction of chain length which results in shorter PFASs that are more difficult to oxidize (Phong Vo et al. 2020). The membrane based separation produces a retentate of high PFAS concentration which is in need of further treatment. For the adsorption and the ion exchange there is the opportunity of incineration when the adsorption media is spent and thereby reaching the end of life for the captured PFAS. This decomposition is thought to occur through mineralization to fluorine (Wang et al. 2022). Both have its drawbacks of having lower removal efficiencies compared to nanofiltration but the advantage of not creating a retentate. The advantage of GAC over anion exchange (AIX) is that it is reliable, straight forward to operate have been used in DWTPs for decades and has a commercially available method for regeneration without creating an additional waste stream (Sonmez Baghirzade et al. 2021).

# 2.3 What is GAC?

GAC stands for granular activated carbon and is a type of activated carbon. In the process of making activated carbon two main steps are involved; carbonization and activation (Chang & Zainal 2019). The carbonization process, or pyrolysis as it is also called, occurs through heating in an oxygen free environment. The activation process can be divided into the thermal or physical activation and the chemical activation. (Marsh, Rodríguez Reinoso, & Rodriguez-Reinoso 2006). The goal of the activation process is to enhance the porosity and thereby maximize the adsorption potential. The thermal or physical reactivation is done by gasifying the carbon with either carbon dioxide or water vapor. The chemical activation is done by adding a chemical agent to the carbonization step such as phosphoric acid or potassium hydroxide. Activated carbon can be made into granular form (GAC) and powdered form (PAC) and can be made from nutshells, coals, woods, cloths and felts. In 1901, a commercially available method for producing activated carbons were introduced by Rapfael von Ostreyko (Dąbrowski 2001). In 1929, the first activated carbon filter were used for water treatment and in the 1970s they were used to remove a wide range of synthetically made pollutants from water and gases (Inglezakis & Poulopoulos 2006).

#### 2.3.1 Adsorption using GAC

PFASs in water that passes through a GAC filter adheres to the GAC through a process called adsorption. The PFASs dissolved in the liquid phase thereby stays onto the solid GAC. Adsorption occurs through electrostatic interaction and van der Waals forces (hydrophobic interaction) when there is adhesion of molecules dissolved in the liquid to the surface of the solid media (Katam & Bhattacharyya 2022). The PFASs can also be trapped using pore blockage when natural organic matter plugs open pores in the GAC. These processes can be seen in figure 1.



Figure 1: Adsorption and pore blockage of PFAS onto GAC. Figure modified from Katam & Bhattacharyya (2022)

PFSAs have been shown to be more easily adsorbed onto GAC than PFCAs (Chen et al. 2022). Long chained PFASs can be involved in the formation of aggregates on the surface which can improve the adsorption through GAC (Gagliano et al. 2020). However, if PFASs of different chain length co-exist in the water, the longest out compete the shorter due to stronger hydrophobic interactions. This can lead to desorption which occurs when the outgoing concentration of a PFAS is greater than the incoming concentration. If a short chained PFAS has been adsorbed to the surface of GAC, a longer chained PFAS can push it away and take its place on the GAC which leads to desorption. The effect of natural organic matter (NOM) in the water can both increase the adsorption and decrease the adsorption. It seems as most studies has found an negative effect due to competition of the active cites on the GAC and that the effect is not as strong for longer chained PFASs. While long chained PFASs are found both in the dissolved phase but also found on the organic matter, short chained PFASs are only found in dissolved phase (Ahrens et al. 2010).

An advantage of operating a 2 stage GAC at the DWTP is that it is easier to achieve plug flow in the GAC container. Plug flow is an idealized flow where all the particles going through an adsorption media have the same velocity (Coker 2015) and can be seen in the left part of figure 2. This is more likely to occur at the top of the GAC. The benefit of plug flow is that it means that all of the GAC would be utilized and no PFAS would reach breakthrough earlier than the others. The opposite of plug flow can be seen in the right part of figure 2 where the water flows faster in certain areas of the GAC. This means that not all the GAC is utilized for PFAS adsorption and that the breakthrough of certain PFASs would occur earlier than with the plug flow. In a two stage GAC, the water is collected after the first stage and then led through another GAC stage. Thereby, eventual breakthrough in the first stage can be monitored and since the water passes through another step, this allows for a more confident removal of PFAS.



Figure 2: Visualisation of plug flow though a container of GAC on the left and the unwanted flow of breakthrough of water in certain areas of the GAC on the right.  $C_0$  is the incoming concentration to the GAC and C is the outgoing concentration. The white arrows shows how fast the water is flowing.

#### 2.4 Model

The Lin & Huang adsorption model (1999) has been used by McCleaf et al. (2017), by Cantoni et al. (2021) and Franke et al. (2019) to model PFAS adsorption onto GAC. The model is based on adsorption of benzene, toluene, ethylbenzen and xylene (BTEX) onto macroreticular resins. The concentration leaving an adsorption media can be explained by equation 1

$$C = \frac{C_0}{1 + exp[k_c(\tau - BV]]} \tag{1}$$

or

$$BV = \tau + \frac{1}{k_c} ln \frac{C}{C_0 - C}$$
(2)

where *C* is the outgoing concentration,  $C_0$  is the incoming concentration,  $k_c$  and  $\tau$  are adsorption parameters determined for every case and *BV* is the number of bed volumes treated. This is an empirical model that assumes steady state mass transfer for one substance in water to the adsorbent. A graph of the cumulative BVs on the y-axis and  $ln \frac{C}{C_0-C}$  on the x-axis is created. An example of this can be found in figure 14A. After that, trendlines in the data are found and using equation 2 the parameters  $k_c$  and  $\tau$  can be determined. They are then used in equation 1 to model the concentration for a range of BVs using an incoming concentration ( $C_0$ ). An example of a modeled concentration using this equation can be seen in figure 14B.

## 2.5 Previous studies on PFAS adsorption onto GAC?

McCleaf et al. (2017) found no desorption for PFBS within 50 000 BVs treated for a one stage GAC. The PFSAs had a higher removal efficiency compared to the PFCAs and that the removal efficiency for the short chained PFCAs was the worst. They furthermore modeled the concentration of PFPeA, PFHxA, PFHpA, PFOA, PFBS, PFHxS and PFOS with an EBCT of 6.1 minutes using the Lin & Huang adsorption model (1999). They found a change in adsorption trends after 50 days of operation and called this first period phase 1. This phase got its individual  $k_c$  and  $\tau$  values and was followed by a phase 2 with other  $k_c$  and  $\tau$  values. The phase 1  $k_c$  and  $\tau$  values were then used to model the concentration for the first 50 days and the phase 2  $k_c$  and  $\tau$  values were used to model the following days.

A two stage GAC filtration study was made by Vahala (2002) for organic matter removal. They found that neither installing a two stage GAC nor increasing the EBCT (10-15 min) resulted in a more effective use of GAC in terms of NOM removal. Another two-stage GAC filtration was used by Eschauzie et. al (2011). The finished drinking water contained several short chained PFASs while the long chained were removed. Furthermore, it showed that most conventional treatment processes in DWTPs does not remove PFASs.

Franke et al. (2019) investigated AIX and GAC adsorption on both raw water and the retentate from nanofiltration. They found that nanofiltration removed >99% of PFAS for the water in Uppsala. For both the raw water and retentate adsorption, the AIX had higher adsorption than GAC but with a higher difference for the retentate treatment. Chow et al. (2022) found that breakthrough curves for PFAS follows an asymmetric sigmoidal shape that shows that the removal efficiency is high at first, then decreases rapidly and eventually reach saturation where the removal efficiency is zero due to all active sites on the GAC being occupied. In cases of short chained PFASs with less than 4 carbons (<4 C), desorption occurred. They furthermore used a similar model to that used in this report to model breakthrough of different PFCAs and PFSAs of different chain-lengths. They found that that short chained PFCAs  $C_4$ ,  $C_3$  and  $C_2$  and PFSAs  $C_2$ experience desorption within 60000 bed volumes. They adjusted their model to exclude the desorbing data points in order to get a functional model for breakthrough of PFAS.

Belkouteb et al. (2020) found that conventional treatment techniques are insufficient in removing PFAS. They also found that GAC is a straight foreward and reliable treatment method for the removal of PFAS and stated that there is an existing competitive GAC market that can be used to minimize operational costs. Furthermore they saw that PFSAs were removed more easily than PFCAs and that lowering the flow resulted in higher removal efficiencies. Especially for GAC that has been in operation for a while. They also made a cost analysis that showed that treatment goals has an overwhelming effect on the cost and that the dominant treatment cost was the regeneration cost. Son et al. (2010) made a comparison of virgin and regenerated GAC. They compared the breakthrough of dissolved organic carbon (DOC) in virgin GAC to regenerated GAC that has been regenerated 1-3 times. The results were that the adsorption capacity of the virgin GAC was equal to that of all the regenerated GAC.

# 3 Method

Two main comparisons were made to compare operating a one stage GAC to two stage GAC. A comparison of removal by chain length and a cost comparison for PFAS<sub>4</sub>.

# 3.1 Pilot operations

The setup of the pilot can be seen in figure 3 which includes a sketch of Bäcklösa DWTP at the top of the figure. This is included to show that the pilot received the same type of water as the full scale GAC filters at the DWTP is doing. The pilot consisted of pumps in two locations in order to pump the water from the raw water tank to the first stage GAC and from the collection tanks after the first stage to the second stage. The first stage filters consisted of a virgin Aquasorb 6300 GAC (Jacobi 2012), two regenerated Filtrasorb 400 GAC (CalgonCarbon 2019), two virgin Flitrasorb400 GAC and a blank column without any filter. The second stage filters consisted of two regenerated Filtrasorb 400 GAC, two virgin Flitrasorb 400 GAC and a blank. The water leaving the virgin Aquasorb 6300 GAC and the two virgin Flitrasorb 400 GAC were collected in a tank and were pumped to the two virgin Flitrasorb 400 GAC and the blank in the second stage. The water leaving the two regenerated Filtrasorb 400 GAC in the second stage. The water leaving the two regenerated Filtrasorb 400 GAC in the second stage. The water leaving the two regenerated Filtrasorb 400 GAC in the second stage. The water leaving the two regenerated Filtrasorb 400 GAC in the second stage. The water leaving the two regenerated and virgin Filtrasorb 400 GAC in the second stage. The water leaving the two regenerated and virgin Filtrasorb 400 GAC in the second stage. The water leaving the two regenerated filtrasorb 400 GAC in the second stage. The water leaving the two regenerated and virgin Filtrasorb 400 GAC in the second stage. The water leaving the two regenerated and virgin Filtrasorb 400 GAC in the second stage. The water leaving the two regenerated and virgin Filtrasorb 400 GAC in the second stage were then collected in a collection tank but the water leaving the two blanks was not collected. They were included in the experiment as a reference to the columns with GAC.



Figure 3: Scheme of two-stage GAC for PFAS removal. In grey at the top of the figure is the treatment scheme for Bäcklösa DWTP. The red arrow is the Raw water to the pilot, the dark blue color is the water that has passed by one stage of regenerate GAC and the lighter blue color is the water that has passed by two stages of regenerated GAC. The darker green is the water that has passed by one stage of virgin GAC and the lighter green is the water that has passed by two stages of virgin GAC. The black lines are water going to the sewage. The 15 sampling points in the pilot and the pumps are shown in two stages.

The pilot was visited twice a week from 2022-07-01 until 2023-02-28 before the setup of the pilot was changed. The data between these dates is what is included in this thesis and consisted of three periods that can be seen in table 2. The first period, until 2022-09-27 had a flow of around 100 ml/min resulting in an empty bed contact time (EBCT) of 5 min. The second period lasted until 2023-01-17 with a flow of around 50 ml/min and an EBCT of 8 min. The last period had a flow of around 25 ml/min with an EBCT of 15 min. The EBCT was calculated using equation 3.

Table 2.	Pilot	operations
----------	-------	------------

	Period 1	Period 2	Period 3
EBCT [min]	5	8	15
Flow [ml/min]	100	50	25
Start date	2022-07-01	2022-09-27	2023-01-17
End date	2022-09-27	2023-01-17	2023-02-28
BVs treated	0-26000	26000-45000	45000-50000

The EBCT was calculated using equation 3

$$EBCT[min] = \frac{V_{BV[ml]}}{flow[ml/min]}$$
(3)

where  $V_BV$  is the bed volume in ml and *flow* is the flow coming out of the column in ml/min. The three flows that were used and the corresponding calculated EBCTs can be seen in table 2.

Every week, 15 PFAS samples were gathered from the 15 sampling points shown in figure 3. The samples from every other week were sent to the lab for PFAS analysis. Occasional samples, that were not sent in, were later sent to the lab to confirm or discard surprising values in the results. For each sampling, the height of the water inside the column as well as the height of the GAC was noted. Furthermore, the flow, pH, conductivity and temperature was measured and recorded. The whole sampling period with concentrations of PFAS<sub>4</sub> can be seen in figure 4.



Figure 4: PFAS<sub>4</sub> concentrations for the whole pilot operation period with concentrations in the (black) raw water, (blue) regenerated stage 1, (red) virgin stage 1, (yellow) regenerated stage 2 and (green) virgin stage two. The flow changes (see table 2) are also visible in the figure by the red vertical dotted lines.

## 3.2 Data handling

The data consisted of concentrations of 34 different PFASs as well as  $PFAS_4$ ,  $PFAS_{11}$ ,  $PFAS_{20}$  and  $PFAS_{21}$ . These can be seen in appendix in table A1. If a data point was below the level of detection, it was assumed to be zero. This resulted in gaps in the data set. The data from 2022-09-20 was excluded from all the calculations because it was considered an outlier. The PFASs that existed in more than half of the samples can also be seen in table 3 where their individual C-F chain length can be seen.

CF-chain length	4	5	6	7	8
PFSAs	PFBS	PFPeS	PFHxS		PFOS
PFCAs	PFPeA	PFHxA	PFHpA	PFOA	

Table 3: Existing PFASs in Uppsala's untreated groundwater.

## 3.3 Bäcklösa DWTP

A two stage pilot was installed at Bäcklösa DWTP. Today, the plant has a full scale one stage GAC which operates at a flow resulting in an EBCT of 15 minutes. 10 GAC filters are placed in parallel and 6 of them are usually operated simultaneously. The filters are of the same type as in the pilot; Aquasorb 6300 GAC (Jacobi 2012) and Filtrasorb 400 GAC (CalgonCarbon 2019). The treatment scheme at Bäcklösa DWTP can be seen in figure 3. First the raw water is aerated, and then the  $CaCO_3$  is removed in a pellets reactor. This is followed by a rapid filtration and then the water goes to the GAC filter before being disinfected. The plant produces approximately 7000000  $m^3$  of water each year and has a current treatment goal of 25 ng/L for PFAS<sub>11</sub>. The GAC filters contain a GAC volume of 40  $m^3$ .

## 3.4 Sieving analysis

A dry sieving analysis was performed on the first stage GAC-filters after the pilot was stopped. The reason for this was to determine the difference in particle size between the regenerated and virgin GAC and to determine the apparent density. A potential difference in particle size between two samples of GAC could be an explanation for difference in adsorption capacity and thereby removal efficiency. The apparent density can be used to calculate the weight of GAC for samples that has not been analyzed in a sieving analysis but has a known volume.

Before the sieving analysis could be started, the 5 first stage columns were emptied. The wet GAC was dried in an oven and then on the top of the radiator in order to achieve complete dryness. The machine used for the sieving analysis was a vibration sieving machine and in order to choose the appropriate sizes for analysis, test results from an earlier sieving analysis of GAC was investigated. The sizes <0.2 mm, 0.2 mm, 0.4 mm, 0.6 mm, 0.8 mm, 1.0 mm, 1.25 mm and 1.6 mm were chosen to resemble those test results. In order to determine the appropriate time for each analysis, a sieving test was performed before the actual sieving analysis was started. This was done using a sample of 353 g of virgin Aquasorb 6300 GAC (Jacobi 2012). The sieving time of 20 minutes was chosen appropriate for the sieving analysis.

For each sample, the total weight of the sample and the individual weight of each size exclusion was found. An effective size (the size of the smallest 10% of the sample) and the Uniformity coefficient (the size of the smallest 60% of the sample divided by the effective size) could be calculated for the samples in the test. They can be seen in table 4.

*Table 4: Effective size (10 % diameter) and uniformity coefficient (60 % diameter / 10 % diameter) from the sieving analysis.* 

	Virgin	Regen.	Regen.	Virgin	Virgin
	Aquasorb	Filtrasorb	Filtrasorb	Filtrasorb	Filtrasorb
	6300	400	400	400	400
Effective size (mm)	0.685	0.67	0.665	0.74	0.75
Uniformity coefficient	1.87	1.74	1.74	1.74	1.72
Total weight (g)	267	292	289	318	314

The average total weight for the first stage regenerated and virgin GAC was calculated from table 4. The average bed volume in the regenerated and virgin first stage was used to calculate the average apparent density for the regenerated and the virgin GAC. This number was then used, together with the average bed volume for the regenerated and virgin second stage to calculate the average weight of the GAC in the second stage. These numbers can be seen in table 5.

Table 5: Sieving analysis average results, apparent density and weight of GAC in the pilot.

	Regenerated GAC		Virgin GAC	
Average apparent density [g/ml]	0.69		0.78	
	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 1	Stage 2
Average weight of GAC [g]	291	299	316	328
Average bed volume [ml]	419	430	405	420

#### **3.5** Removal efficiency calculations

The removal efficiency, RE, was calculated using equation 4

$$RE = \frac{C_0 - C}{C_0} \cdot 100\%$$
 (4)

where  $C_0$  is the incoming concentration to the GAC filter and *C* is the concentration coming out of the filter. It was calculated for the PFASs found in Uppsala's groundwater presented, in table 3. A comparison of removal efficiency over time with respect to chain length was made. In the graphs with the comparison gaps occurred. These were caused by some of the data being below the detection limit. Ror the removal efficiency, only the regenerated GAC data is presented. This is because the regenerated and the virgin graphs looked similar. In order to prove that they are not significantly different a T-test was performed and in order to do the T-test, the series of data needed to be detrended. The detrended series and the results from the T-test can be seen in figure 10 and table 8. The removal efficiencies based on the data from the pilot contains the removal efficiencies for the three EBCTs spread over different BVs. This makes the comparison of a removal efficiency for the BVs of 0-26000 to another removal efficiency at a bed volume of >26000 BVs unfair. In order to find a fair comparison of removal efficiency for an increasing number of bed volumes, modeling was made using Lin & Huang adsorption model (1999) for each EBCT individually. This was done for each of the PFSAs and PFCAs present in the water.

#### **3.6** Removal comparison of 1 stage to 2 stages

The removal comparison of 1 stage to 2 stages was made by dividing the removal by the weight of GAC and by the number of BVs treated. It was calculated using equation 5

$$\frac{Removed[ng] / GAC[g]}{BV} = \frac{(C_0 - C) \cdot V_{time} / W_{GAC}}{BV}$$
(5)

where  $V_{time}$  is the volume in Liters that has passed through the column between each sampling time,  $W_{GAC}$  is the weight in gram of the GAC in the column and BV is the number of bed volumes that has passed. The reason for dividing by the weight of GAC was to make a fair comparison between the removal of one stage and removal of two stages and by dividing by the number of BVs the comparison of the three EBCTs could me made. The removal for each EBCT, and thereby an interval of bed volumes, was placed into one bar with visible average, top and lower quartile as well as visible potential outliers. These results can be seen in figure 13. A comparison of the removal between stage one and stage two can be seen in appendix in figure A1.

#### **3.7** Cost calculation

The cost calculation was performed for PFAS<sub>4</sub> removal for the EBCT of 5, 8 and 15 minutes individually. No cost calculation was made for PFAS<sub>21</sub> since the concentrations after the first and the second stage never went above the limit of 100 ng/L during the pilot. Therefore, the PFAS<sub>4</sub> limit was considered the most important limit from a cost perspective since the PFAS<sub>4</sub> concentrations went above the limit of 4 ng/L. Because the pilot was operated at three different EBCTs, a modeling using Lin & Huang adsorption model (1999) was done to allow comparison of the different EBCT data. By using this model, the concentrations of PFAS<sub>4</sub> for the BVs of 0-60000 could be estimated. In figure 4, the concentrations for in the incoming tank, the first stage and the second stage could be seen. The EBCT of 5 and 8 minutes can be distinctly seen with increasing trends in the first and second stage between the flow changes. For the EBCT of 15 minutes, there is only an increasing trend in the last three points of the data. Therefore, the only points that were included were the last three points of that EBCT. Moreover, the data from 2022-09-20 was also excluded from the modeling of EBCT 5 minutes because it was considered an outlier.

The modeling was done by plotting  $ln \frac{C}{C_0-C}$  on the x-axis and *BVs* on the y-axis resulting in figure on the left of figure 5. The trendlines represents equation 2 and from there the parameters  $k_c$  and  $\tau$  can be found for each column. These parameters can then be used to calculate the modeled concentration using equation 1 for each bed volume and incoming concentration resulting in a graph looking like the right part of figure 5. The figure could then be used to find the number of bed volumes where each modeled line crossed the concentration of 2, 4, 6, 8 and 10 ng/L.



*Figure 5: A visualization on how the modeling was made for the EBCT of 5 minutes for PFAS*<sub>4</sub>*. The green arrows shows how the process was conducted step by step.* 

The parameters for the calculation comparison between one stage and two stages are shown in table 6. The differences between 1 stage and 2 stages included in the calculation are the double investment cost of virgin GAC, the double pumping cost, the number of bed volumes between each regeneration and the weight of one stage vs two stages of GAC.

Parameter	GAC filter Filtrasorb® 400			
Treatment goal [PFAS <sub>4</sub> , ng/L]	2	, ,	4	
Treatment stages	1	2	1	2
Reaches target after certain BV <sup>a</sup>	1600	12000	3350	20000
BVs treated per regeneration cycle <sup>b</sup>	1600	10400	3350	16650
Service volume $(m^3)^{c}$	64000	416000	134000	666000
Number of needed regenerations per year	109	17	52	11
Yearly regeneration cost (euro) <sup>d</sup>	3120000	481000	1490000	300000
Yearly pumping cost (euro) <sup>e</sup>	14000	28000	14000	28000
Virgin GAC purchase (euro) <sup>f</sup>	5920	11800	5920	11800
Total cost (euro) <sup>g</sup>	3140000	520000	1510000	340000
Total cost/GAC [euro/kg GAC]	110	9.4	54	6.1

Table 6: Examples of cost calculation parameters for the regenerated EBCT 5 minutes. Only the treatment goal of 2 and 4 ng/L is included in the figure.

<sup>a</sup> From the intercept shown in figure 14B.

<sup>b</sup> Calculated according the the concept shown in figure 6.

<sup>c</sup> The number of BVs multiplied by the volume of one BV.

<sup>d</sup> GAC regeneration cost 714 euro  $m^{-3}$  wet GAC

<sup>e</sup> 0.002  $euro/m^3$  concentrate

<sup>f</sup> Virgin GAC cost 1142 euro  $m^{-3}$  wet GAC and service life 10 years with interest rate 5%

<sup>g</sup> Based on the apparent density calculated from the sieving analysis.

In order to determine the number of BVs between each regeneration cycle a concept was needed (figure 6). The blue dots stand for the concentration in the first stage and the orange for the second stage. When the target concentration is about to be exceeded in the second stage (in figure 6 this is 4 ng/L) the process is stopped. The second stage is moved and placed as the first stage and the original first stage is regenerated and placed as the new second stage. Thereby, the orange dots turns into blue dots when the new regeneration cycle starts and the blue dots turns into orange, newly regenerated dots. The figure is based on real values until the second stage

reaches 4 ng/L. The rest is based on the assumption that the first stage is going to experience the same concentration increase by BVs as it did in the pilot while the second stage is calculated from the removal efficiency from when the first stage reaches 4 ng/L until the second stage reaches 4 ng/L. Therefore, the number of BVs will be the same for each regeneration cycle. The calculation is based on the modeled values for the virgin and regenerated filters. Therefore, the the number of BVs between each regeneration for the two stage system is calculated by subtracting the number of BVs when the second stage reaches the treatment goal with the number of BVs when the first stage reaches the treatment goal. For the one stage system, the number of BVs between each regeneration cycle is just the number of BVs it takes for a regenerated or virgin GAC to reach the treatment goal.



Figure 6: The concept behind the economic calculations

According to Lin & Huang (1999) there is a linear relation between  $k_c$  and  $\tau$  for different flows. Thereby, it should be a linear trend between  $k_c$  and  $\tau$  in this experiment but instead of plotting time and flow on the y-axis and x-axis, the cumulative BV and the EBCT was plotted on the y-axis and x-axis (figure 15). The finding of  $k_c$  and  $\tau$  was based on the incoming concentration in the raw water tank for stage 1. For stage 2 it was based on the middle tanks with the water that had passed the regenerated filters in the first stage for the second stage regenerated filters an likewise for the virgin filters. However the modeling using those parameter could not be done using the middle tank concentrations. This is because the concentration in the middle tanks were highly affected by the different flows and therefore it reflects the unwanted flow changes in the modeling. The concentrations in the middle tanks can be seen in figure 7A. There are clear trends in the middle tank concentrations and the result is that the concentration decreases more than what is suspected in the modeling. This can be seen in the light red color in figure 7B. The dotted line in figure 7B is the modeled concentration using the modeled concentrations as the incoming concentration from the first stage in equation 1. The modeled concentrations were calculated using the average concentration for the first stage and the modeled concentrations for the second stage.



Figure 7: (A) The concentrations of the middle tanks and (B) the modeling using the middle concentrations (red circles), the modeling using the first stage modeled concentrations (dotted line) and the actual concentrations (squares)

In order to visualize the costs per weight of GAC graphs were made with the treatment goal on the x-axis and the cost per weight of GAC on the y-axis for each EBCT and the virgin and regenerated GAC individually. Also a calculation of the cost difference between 1 stage and 2 stages was made. The difference in cost between 1 stage and 2 stages was calculated using equation 6

$$\% difference = \frac{Cost_1 - Cost_2}{Cost_1} \cdot 100\%$$
(6)

where  $Cost_1$  is the cost in  $\mathbb{C}/\text{kg}$  GAC for 1 stage and  $Cost_2$  is the cost in  $\mathbb{C}/\text{kg}$  GAC for 2 stages. However, for those treatment goals where the cost of having a 2 stage GAC was more expensive than having a 1 stage GAC, the calculation was flipped. In those cases  $Cost_1$  changed places with  $Cost_2$ .

# 4 Result

The results section includes a segment with the raw water concentrations, a segment with the removal efficiencies in the first and section stage with a T-test comparison for the removal efficiencies for the virgin and regenerated GAC, a display of the results for modeling the PFASs found in the raw water, then a comparison for the 1 stage and 2 stages removal per weight of GAC per BV is included and finally a section with the economic comparison between 1 stage and 2 stages.

# 4.1 Raw water and PFAS<sub>21</sub>

The concentrations for the PFASs in the raw tank can be seen in table 7. The concentrations for all the individual PFSAs are higher than for the PFCAs and that the PFSA with the highest concentrations is PFHxS and the PFCA with the highest concentration is PFHxA. The total number of samples included in the experiment was 25 and in the table it is shown how many of those points are above the level of detection. All included PFAS have more than half of the points included and the PFAS with the least points is PFHpA which also has the lowest average concentration of all the PFASs. The average concentration of PFAS<sub>4</sub> and PFAS<sub>21</sub> in table 7 is the average concentration of the black line in figure 4 and figure 8 respectively.

	Average concentration (ng/L)	Data points used/ total number	Standard deviation (ng/L)
PFCA (C-length)			
PFPeA $(c_4)$	1.8	24 / 25	0.3
PFHxA ( $c_5$ )	4.8	25 / 25	0.8
PFHpA ( $c_6$ )	1.3	16/25	0.2
PFOA $(c_7)$	3.7	25 / 25	0.8
PFCA (C-length)			
PFBS $(c_4)$	5.9	25 / 25	0.7
PFPeS $(c_5)$	6.1	25 / 25	0.9
PFHxS $(c_6)$	49	25 / 25	6.3
PFOS $(c_8)$	19	25 / 25	2.4
Sum of PFASs			
PFAS <sub>4</sub>	71	25 / 25	8.5
PFAS <sub>21</sub>	91	25 / 25	11

Table 7: Average raw water concentrations for PFASs present in Uppsala's groundwater during the whole pilot period, the number of data points used and the standard deviation.

The concentrations of  $PFAS_{21}$  in the raw water (black) and after the regenerated stage 1 (blue), regenerated stage 2 (yellow), virgin stage 1 (red) and virgin stage 2 (green) can be seen in figure 8. The black line can be compared to the new limit in drinking water of 100 ng/L. It can be seen that even though the raw water is above the limit the water coming out of the first and the second stage is well below that limit and therefore the economic calculation was only performed for PFAS<sub>4</sub>.



*Figure 8: PFAS*<sub>21</sub> *concentrations for the whole pilot operation period. The flow change is shown in table 2.* 

#### 4.2 Removal efficiencies

The removal efficiencies for the PFSAs in the first stage can be seen in figure 9A and the second stage in figure 9B. It can be seen that no desorption occurs except for PFBS in the first stage at roughly 46000 bed volumes. The removal efficiencies for the PFCAs in the first stage can be seen in 9C and for the second stage in figure 9D. Desorption occurs for both PFPeA and PFHxA in both the first and the second stage. For all the removal efficiencies shown in figure 9 it can be seen that even though all PFASs start with a high removal efficiency, the removal efficiency decreases faster, for the short chains than for the longer chains.



*Figure 9: Removal efficiencies for the regenerated columns at stage 1 and stage 2 for the PFSAs in (A) and (B) and for the PFCAs in (C) and (D). The PFSAs chain lengths are presented in parenthesis.* 

The detrending of the removal efficiencies was done in order to make a T-test between the virgin GAC and the regenerated GAC. An example of how the original data looked like for PFOA can be seen in figure 10A and the detrended series can be seen in figure 10B.



*Figure 10: An illustration of the (A) actual removal efficiency of the regenerated filters and the virgin filters and (B) the detrended series used for the T-test.* 

The detrended series was made by subtracting each data point from its trendline. The results from the T-test can be seen in table 8. The difference between values in detrended virgin GAC and the detrended regenerated GAC for each PFAS was executed in the T-test. The difference for the removal efficiency was determined to not be of significance which can be seen in table 8 where none of the p-values goes below 0.05.

Table 8: P-values from the T-test of the detrended removal efficiencies for the regenerated vs virgin GAC for stage 1 and stage 2 efficiencies for each PFAS in the table.

	PFPeA	PFHxA	PFHpA	PFOA	PFBS	PFPeS	PFHxS	PFOS
Stage 1	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.61	0.84	1.00	1.00	0.87
Stage 2	0.77	1.00	0.94	0.90	0.84	1.00	0.70	0.84

#### 4.3 Modeling of PFSAs and PFCAs

The Lin & Huang adsorption model (1999) was used for the PFASs present in the water. The PFSAs can be seen in figure 11. It can be seen that all the PFSAs have linear trends for the three EBCTs of 5, 8 and 15 minutes. The EBCT of 5 minutes is also separated into phase 1 and phase 2 as was done by McCleaf et al. (2017).



Figure 11: (A) PFOS, (B) PFHxS, (C) PFPeS and (D) PFBS. Blue is regenerated stage 1, yellow is regenerated stage 2, red is virgin stage 1 and green is virgin stage 2. Circle dots are EBCT 5 min phase 1, squares are EBCT 5 min phase 2, triangles are EBCT 8 minutes and dimonds are EBCT 15 min.

The PFCA's Lin & Huang adsorption model (1999) can be seen in figure 12. The model results looks similar to the PFSAs for PFOA but not for the other PFCAs. It can be seen that when the incoming concentration is less than the outgoing concentration, the value of  $\ln \frac{C}{C_0-C}$  is zero. This is especially prominent in figure 12D for the shortest chained PFCA where there are many points equal to zero from 30000 BVs and above.



Figure 12: (A) PFOA, (B) PFHpA, (C) PFHxA and (D) PFPeA. Blue is regenerated stage 1, yellow is regenerated stage 2, red is virgin stage 1 and green is virgin stage 2. Circle dots are EBCT 5 min phase 1, squares are EBCT 5 min phase 2, triangles are EBCT 8 minutes and diamonds are EBCT 15 min.

## 4.4 Removal per weight of GAC per BV for 1 stage and 2 stages

The removal of PFSAs and PFCAs for 1 stage and 2 stages were compared for the three EBCT periods (figure 13). The removal per weight of GAC per BV for 1 stage is shown in the blue bars and the removal for 2 stages are shown in the grey bars. It can be seen in that the grey bars are never higher than the blue bars indicating that the removal is not more efficient for a two stage system than for a one stage system per mass of GAC. In the figure, the height of each bar is directly correlated to the amount of that PFAS in the raw water and the highest removal can therefore be seen for PFHxS ( $C_6$ ) in figure 13A, 13B and 13C.



Figure 13: (A) PFSA removal EBCT 5 min, (B) PFSA removal EBCT 8 min, (C) PFSA removal EBCT 15 min (D) PFCA removal EBCT 5 min, (E) PFCA removal EBCT 8 min and (F) PFCA removal EBCT 15 min. EBCT 5 min represents 0-26000 BVs, EBCT 8 min represents 26000-45000 BVs and EBCT 15 min represents 45000-50000 BVs. Blue is removal in stage 1 and grey is the total removal. The removal is represented by ng PFAS removed/g GAC / BV so the the total removal (grey) is divided by the double weight of GAC.

#### 4.5 Economic comparison of 1 stage to 2 stages for PFAS<sub>4</sub>

The Lin & Huang (1999) modeling of PFAS<sub>4</sub> can be seen in figure 14. Figure 14A shows the linear fitting for the virgin GAC for stage 1 and stage 2. For EBCT 5 minutes, stage 1 is separated into phase 1 (circles) and phase 2 (squares). Stage 2 however, only contains phase 2 because there are too few data points for phase 1. From the linear trends, the parameters  $k_c$  and  $\tau$  can be found where  $k_c$  is 1/slope and  $\tau$  is the intercept with the y-axis. These are then used according to equation 1 to generated figure 14B where the modeled concentrations and the real concentrations can be seen. The intercept of the modeled concentrations with 2, 4, 6, 8 and 10 ng/L can be seen in figure 14B.



Figure 14: (A) The Lin & Huang linear fitting (1999) of PFAS<sub>4</sub> for the virgin GAC where red is stage 1 and green is stage 2. Circle dots are EBCT 5 min phase 1, squares are EBCT 5 min phase 2, triangles are EBCT 8 minutes and diamonds are EBCT 15 min. (B) The modeled concentrations (dotted lines), the real concentrations (solid line) and the intercepts of 2, 4, 6, 8, 10 ng/L (X marks). In the figure, EBCTs of 5, 8 and 15 minutes can be seen from left to right for the first stage (red) and the second stage (green) individually.

The modeling parameters  $\tau$  and  $k_c$  for the stage 1 and two regenerated and virgin GAC can be seen in table 9. It can be seen that no values are presented for phase 1 in the second stage. That is because there are too few data points. It can furthermore be seen that the  $R^2$  values for the EBCT of 5 and 8 minutes lies between 0.72-0.97. For the EBCT of 15 minutes, there is one value within that range which is that for the regenerated stage 1, the other values are between 0.21 and 0.55.

Table 9: Values of  $\tau$  and  $k_c$  used for modeling of concentrations seen in figure 14B. Also  $1/k_c$  is presented as well as the trendline  $R^2$  value together with the number of points included and the total number of points within that period.

EBCT	Phase	$1/k_c$	$k_c$	au	$R^2$	N.O. points included /
(min)		(BVs)	$(BVs^{-1} \cdot 10^3)$	(BVs)		total points
Regene	erated stage 1					
5.1	1	3164	0.32	13046	0.97	3/4
5.1	2	23917	0.04	31438	0.87	4 / 5
8.0	2	12949	0.08	44526	0.83	10 / 10
14	2	12155	0.08	60148	0.97	3/7
Virgin	stage 1					
4.9	1	3408	0.30	14511	0.97	3/4
4.9	2	16819	0.06	34528	0.94	4 / 5
7.8	2	10822	0.09	45302	0.84	10 / 10
14	2	3608	0.29	53835	0.55	3/7
Regene	erated stage 2					
5.3	1	-	-	-	-	-
5.3	2	9996	0.10	36757	0.72	4 / 5
8.3	2	11884	0.08	52611	0.93	10 / 10
15	2	2596	0.49	50411	0.21	3/7
Virgin	stage 2					
5.1	1	-	-	-	-	-
5.1	2	14363	0.07	42520	0.97	4 / 5
8.1	2	10869	0.09	52682	0.94	10 / 10
15	2	4745	0.26	55191	0.53	3/7

The relationship between  $\tau$  and  $k_c$  for different EBCTs for the first and second stage of the virgin and regenerated columns can be seen in figure 15 and in table 10. It can be seen that there is a strong linear trend for all the parameters except for the  $k_c$  of the regenerated first stage and  $\tau$  for the regenerated second stage.



Figure 15: The linear relationship of  $\tau$  and  $1/k_c$  over EBCT for the regenerated and virgin stage 1 and 2. Only Phase 2 is visualized in this figure where "+" stand for  $1/k_c$  and "-" stand for  $\tau$ .

Table 10: R <sup>2</sup>	<sup>2</sup> values for th	e regenerated and	l virgin stage 1	and stage 2.
--------------------------	----------------------------	-------------------	------------------	--------------

Stage 1	$1/k_{c} (R^{2})$	$\tau (R^2)$	Stage 2	$1/k_c (R^2)$	$\tau (R^2)$
Regenerated	0.62	0.98	Regenerated	0.77	0.42
Virgin	0.98	0.93	Virgin	1.00	0.73

The result from comparing the modeled concentrations to the real concentrations can be seen in figure 16. The real values and the modeled values are matching for EBCT 5 min and EBCT 8 minutes. For the EBCT of 15 min, the modeling is suppose to match the three last data points. However, the pumps in the second stage were set to a slightly lower flow making the cumulative BV calculation lower than what was modeled.



Figure 16: The modeled concentrations and the real concentrations for the whole period. "5 min", "8 min" and "15 min" stand for each corresponding EBCT for the stage 1 and stage 2 concentrations. For the real concentrations, circle dots are EBCT 5 min phase 1, squares are EBCT 5 min phase 2, triangles are EBCT 8 minutes and diamonds are EBCT 15 m. The red color stands for virgin stage 1 and the green for virgin stage 2.

A comparison of the number of needed BVs per regeneration cycle explained in figure 6 can be seen in table 11. The number of bed volumes are presented for the virgin and regenerated cost calculation and for each treatment goal. It can be seen that there are no BVs for the treatment goal of 2 ng/L in the EBCT 8 minutes stage 1. This is because the modeling for this stage and EBCT never reached below 2 ng/L. The number of BVs in 2 stages are higher than for 1 stage for the EBCT of 5 minutes for all the treatment goals. For the EBCT of 8 minutes the number of BVs are higher for the second stage for the regenerated GAC but not for the virgin GAC which has a lower number of BVs for the treatment goals of 8 and 10 ng/L. For the EBCT of 15 minutes the only treatment goals in the regenerated and virgin GAC calculations has more BVs in the first stage. A decrease in the number of BVs with increasing treatment goal is unexpected. The reason why this is occurring is because the distance in BVs between 1 stage and 2 stages is decreasing with increased treatment goals. This can be seen in figure 14B where the distances between the "X" for 1 stage and 2 stages is getting smaller when going from 2 ng/L to 10 ng/L.

	EBCT 5 min		EBCT	۲8 min	EBCT 15 min		
	1 stage	2 stages	1 stage	2 stages	1 stage	2 stages	
Treatment goal (ng/L)	(BVs)	(BVs)	(BVs)	(BVs)	(BVs)	(BVs)	
Regenerated GAC							
2	1720	10300	-	28700	16400	29000	
4	4000	15000	6890	34200	25200	21700	
6	5380	17600	12600	37600	30600	17300	
8	6390	19900	16900	40200	34500	14200	
10	7190	21500	20200	42500	37600	11900	
Virgin GAC							
2	2340	11600	4210	27200	35400	11600	
4	4780	15900	12600	23600	39500	9900	
6	6260	18700	17700	21600	42000	9000	
8	7340	20900	21400	20200	43800	8170	
10	8200	22600	24300	19200	45300	7710	

Table 11: BVs between each regeneration cycle for each treatment goal, stage and EBCT.

In figure 17 the cost per weight of GAC for reaching the treatment goal of 2, 4, 6, 8 and 10 ng/L. Figure 17A and 17B contains the cost per weight of GAC for the EBCT of 5 minutes for a 1 stage and a two stage GAC for the regenerated GAC and the Virgin GAC respectively. Figure 17C and 17D contains the cost per weight of GAC for the EBCT of 8 minutes and figure 17E and 17F for the EBCT of 15 minutes. It can be seen in figure 17A, 17B, 17C and 17D that the cost of operating a two stage GAC is cheaper than operating a one stage GAC system for the EBCT of 15 minutes for both the regenerated GAC and the virgin GAC. However, for the EBCT of 15 minutes it is more expensive to operate a two stage GAC for the regenerated GAC with EBCT of 15 minutes in figure 17F, it is cheaper to operate a two stage system for the treatment goals 2-6 ng/l but more expensive for the treatment goals 8-10 ng/L. It can be noted that the costs for the second stage virgin GAC EBCT 8 minutes in figure 17D and both the regenerated and virgin second stages in figure 17E and 17F the the cost is decreasing with decreasing treatment goal.



Figure 17: The cost of reaching a PFAS<sub>4</sub> target concentration in the range 2-10 ng/L for (A) Regenerated GAC EBCT 5 min (B) Virgin GAC EBCT 5 minutes (C) Regenerated GAC EBCT 8 minutes (D) Virgin GAC EBCT 8 minutes (E) Regenerated GAC EBCT 15 minutes and (F) Virgin GAC EBCT 15 min.

The cost / weight of GAC for 1 stage and 2 stages can also be seen in table 12. Also the % cost difference between 1 stage and 2 stages can be seen. It can be seen that during EBCT 5 min the reduced cost was between 81%-91% and 79%-89% for the regenerated and virgin GAC calculations respectively. For the EBCT of 8 minutes, it was between 71%-88% and 33%-91% for the regenerated and virgin GAC calculations respectively. It needs to be noted however, that there is no cost calculation for the treatment goal of 2 ng/L for the regenerated GAC because the Lin & Huang (1999) modeling never went below 2 ng/L. During EBCT 15 minutes the difference between 1 and 2 stages was between 11%-67% for the regenerated GAC calculations and the treatment goal range of 2-6 ng/L. For the range 8-10 it was 16%-33% cheaper with two stages compare to one. For the EBCT of 15 minutes and virgin GAC calculations the cost was 31%-62% cheaper with 1 stage compared to 2 stages.

Table 12: Costs in  $\mathcal{C}$  / kg GAC for reaching a treatment goal of 2-10 ng/L in 1 stage or 2 stages as well as the % difference between 1 stage and 2 stages. The % difference was calculated using equation 6.

		Regenerated GAC				Virgin GAC						
Treatment goal (ng/L)		2	4	6	8	10	2	r	4	6	8	10
EBCT 5	min											
1 stage	€ / kg GAC	105	46	34	29	26	69	9	34	26	22	20
2 stages	€ / kg GAC	9.5	6.7	5.8	5.2	4.9	7.	5	5.7	4.9	4.5	4.2
% differen	nce 1-2 stages	91	85	83	82	81	89	9	83	81	80	79
EBCT 8 min												
1 stage	€ / kg GAC	_ a	27	15	11	9.6	39	)	13	9.7	8.1	7.2
2 stages	€ / kg GAC	3.8	3.3	3.1	3.0	2.8	3.	6	4.0	4.3	4.6	4.8
% differen	nce 1-2 stages	-	88	79	74	71	91	1	70	55	43	33
EBCT 15 min												
1 stage	€ / kg GAC	12	7.8	6.6	5.9	5.5	5.	2	4.7	4.4	4.3	4.2
2 stages	€ / kg GAC	3.8	4.9	5.9	7.0	8.3	7.	5	8.7	9.5	10	11
% differen	nce 1-2 stages	67	38	11	16 <sup>b</sup>	33 <sup>b</sup>	31	1 <sup>b</sup>	46 <sup>b</sup>	53 <sup>b</sup>	59 <sup>b</sup>	62 <sup>b</sup>

<sup>a</sup> The modeling could not be done for this treatment goal.

<sup>b</sup> For the calculation of these % numbers, the calculation using equation 6 was flipped because the second stage was more expansive than the first stage. This shows how much cheaper the 1 stage is compared to 2 stages.

# 5 Discussion

# 5.1 Raw water and PFAS<sub>21</sub>

The three most abundant PFASs in the raw water were PFHxS, PFOS and PFPeS and can be seen in table 7. The same result was also found by Franke et al. (2021). The average PFAS<sub>21</sub> concentration in the raw water was below the upcoming limit in drinking water of 100 ng/L but occasional samples were above as can be seen in figure 8. The average PFAS<sub>21</sub> concentration was 91 ng/L which is 9 ng/L below the limit. The average PFAS<sub>4</sub> concentration was 71 ng/L and is 67 ng/L above the limit of 4 ng/L. Therefore it is much more difficult to reach the PFAS<sub>4</sub> limit than the PFAS<sub>21</sub> which is already met in the raw water average concentration. It can furthermore be noted that the PFASs that makes up PFAS<sub>4</sub> contributes to the majority(78%) of the PFAS<sub>21</sub> concentration. Meaning that if the PFAS<sub>4</sub> concentration gets lower using GAC, so does the majority of PFAS<sub>21</sub>. Therefore, the focus in this report on the economic calculation was put towards PFAS<sub>4</sub>.

# 5.2 Removal efficiencies

The removal efficiency is higher for long chained PFASs than short chain PFASs and also higher for PFSAs than for PFCAs which is shown in figure 9. This is in line with the findings by McCleaf et al. (2017). However, even though PFBS experienced desorption at one sample in the first stage, which can be seen in figure 9, none of the other PFSAs experience desorption. For the PFCAs, the shortest chained, PFPeA, experienced desorption in the first stage and second stage after 31000 BVs and PFHxA after 42000 BVs. This can be compared to McCleaf et al. (2017) who found desorption of PFPeA after 37000 BVs in a one stage GAC with an EBCT of 6.1 minutes.

The removal efficiency seems to follow the same pattern for the first and second stage for the PFSAs and the PFCAs. This can be seen in all the figures in figure 9 but is extra clear for PFOA and PFOS in the first stage. A straight line of decreasing removal efficiencies for the first EBCT until 26000 BVs and after that a rapid increase in removal efficiencies followed by a new decrease in a less steep straight line until 45000 BV which is at the end of the EBCT of 8 minutes. After that a rapid increase in removal efficiencies followed by an unchanged or slow decrease in removal efficiency. This pattern was confirmed by Belkouteb et al. (2020) for the longer chained PFASs when the flow was changed from a faster flow to a slower flow.

With increasing BVs, the removal efficiency is still relatively high (>55% for PFOA and >80% for PFOS at the end of the experiment) in the first and second stage for the longest-chained PFCA and PFSA. This can be compared to the removal efficiencies of the shortest chained PFCA and PFSA which are 0% for PFPeA and 40-50% for PFBS. The removal efficiency seems to decrease with decreasing chain length for increasing treated BVs. This is in agreement with McCleaf et al. (2017) who found that for both the PFCAs and the PFSAs, the compound with longer carbon chain showed a smaller decrease in removal efficiency over the course of the experiment.

The removal efficiency is not significantly different in regenerated GAC compared to virgin GAC, which is shown by the p-values from the T-test in table 8. The differences between the virgin and

regenerated GAC were investigated in the sieving analysis. The effective size (the 10% diameter) of the regenerated GAC was 0.67 mm and for the virgin GAC it was 0.74 and 0.75 mm. This means that the distribution of particle sizes was towards slightly more smaller particles in the regenerated GAC. The Uniformity coefficient (60% diameter / 10% diameter) was 1.74 for the regenerated GAC and 1.74 and 1.72 for the virgin GAC. These numbers are very close indicating that the difference between the regenerated GAC and the virgin GAC is very small. This is in line with the finding in Son et al. (2010) that the adsorption capacity is equal in virgin and regenerated GAC. Therefore, the average removal of the virgin and the regenerated can be used to compare the removal in a one stage system to a two stage system as was done in figure 13.

## 5.3 Modeling of PFSAs and PFCAs

The Lin & Huang adsorption model (1999) can be used with success for PFOA, PFOS, PFHxS, PFPeS and PFBS which can be seen in figure 12A, 11A, 11B, 11C and 11D. However, for PFHpA, PFHxA and PFPeA it cannot be used accurately because the trendlines are not right which can be seen in figure 12B, 12C and 12D. In figure 12C and 12D it can be seen however, that the trendlines are accurate for the EBCT of 5 minutes for PFPeA and PFHxA and therefore the modeling could be done for that EBCT. In figure 12B however, it can be seen that the modeling could not be done for any EBCT. This can be related to McCleaf et al. (2017) who could model PFPeA, PFHxA, PFHpA, PFOA, PFBS, PFHxS and PFOS with an EBCT of 6.1 minutes.

It can be seen in figure 12B, 12C and 12D that when the the removal efficiency is close to zero but positive, the  $ln \frac{C}{C_0-C}$  gets too high (values to the far right in the figures). Also, when desorption occurs  $ln \frac{C}{C_0-C}$  gets zero proving that the model does not work for PFASs that are desorbing PFASs. This proves that the modeling need adjustments in order to work around the occurring. One way could be to exclude the desorption as was done by Chow et al. (2022) and another way would be to come up with a model taking the desorption into account. For PFHpA there is furthermore to few data points for the model to be accurate. The Lin & Huang adsorption model (1999) is developed to model a substance adsorbing to some kind of adsorption media but can be used to model the adsorption of PFAS<sub>4</sub> which is proved by figure 16. However, when desorption occurs, or when the removal efficiency is positive but close to zero it does not work.

## 5.4 Removal per weight of GAC per BV for 1 stage and 2 stages

When comparing the removal of PFAS per weight of GAC per BV in figure 13 it can be seen that the removal is never higher in the two stage GAC compared to the one stage GAC. This shows that a two stage GAC is not more efficient in removing PFASs than a one stage GAC. However, the difference between the one stage GAC (blue) and the two stage GAC (grey) seems to decrease with an increase in EBCT and more BVs treated. The scale in figure 13A, 13B and 13C is higher than the scale in figure 13D, 13E and 13F which is because the removal of PFSAs is much higher (more than 10 times) the removal of PFCAs. This is because they are more abundant in the raw water which can be seen in table 7 but could also be partly explained by the higher removal efficiency for PFSAs than for PFCAs.

Among the PFSAs the removal was highest for PFHxS ( $C_6$ ) during the whole period. An explanation for this can be that the raw water concentration of PFHxS is the highest among all the PFASs which can be seen in table 7. It can be seen in table 7 that the PFCAs with the highest concentrations in the raw water are PFHxA ( $C_5$ ) and PFOA ( $C_7$ ). In figure 13D the removal is the highest for those two among the PFCAs in the EBCT of 5 minutes. However, in figure 13E and 13F the removal of PFHxA ( $C_5$ ) is decreasing relative to PFHpA ( $C_6$ ) and PFOA ( $C_7$ ) indicating that the removal of the shortest chained PFCAs gets worse than for the long chained PFCAs the longer the experiment runs. This can furthermore be confirmed by earlier findings in this report.

#### 5.5 Economic comparison of 1 stage to 2 stages for PFAS

For the EBCT 5 minutes it is 81-91% and 79-89% cheaper to operate a two stage GAC system for the range of treatment goals of 2-10 ng/L and for the EBCT 8 minutes it is 71-88% and 33-91% cheaper. This can be seen in table 12. For the EBCT of 15 minutes however, the two stage is only cheaper (11-67%) for 2-6 ng/L with the regenerated GAC. For the virgin GAC it is not cheaper within the range of 2-10 ng/L. It was 16-33% cheaper to operate a 1 stage system of the EBCT of 15 minutes and the range of treatment goals of 8-10 ng/L with the regenerated GAC and for the range of 2-10 ng/L with 31-62%.

A reason why it was cheaper to operate a 2 stage GAC compared to 1 stage GAC for the EBCT of 5 and 8 minutes lies with the number of BVs between each regeneration. The numbers were higher for 2 stages compared to 1 stage which can be seen in table 11. However, increasing the number of bed volumes means that the removal efficiency in the first and second stage decreases even more. It could be seen in figure 9 that with increasing BVs treated, the removal efficiency decreased more with shorter chain length, which was also confirmed in McCleaf et al. (2017). Therefore, an increased number of BVs between each regeneration will lead to lower adsorption capacities for short chained PFASs. This will then lead to more short-chained PFASs being released into the drinking water even if the PFAS<sub>4</sub> limit will be met.

The actual full scale DWTP has an EBCT of 15 minutes and for the limit on 4 ng/L of PFAS<sub>4</sub> it would be cheaper with a two stage GAC for the results of the regenerated GAC ( $5.9 \\ \in \\ / \ kg GAC$ ) but more expensive with the virgin GAC ( $9.5 \\ \in \\ / \ kg GAC$ ). However, there are a number of sources of errors related to this. On the one hand, the regenerated GAC better represents the continuous regeneration cycles presented in the concept in figure 6 that would apply since the GAC implemented at the plant would always be regenerated GAC. However, in the economic calculation, virgin GAC is bought at the start of implementing a one stage or two-stage GAC system and therefore the virgin GAC calculations better apply for the first regeneration cycle. Moreover, the concept itself is not validated and needs to be confirmed before these calculations can be fully trusted.

It can be seen in figure 4 that the first 4 samples of  $PFAS_4$  after the first and second stage at EBCT 15 minutes have generally decreasing concentrations over time and BV. For the last three samples of EBCT 15 minutes after the first and second stage however, there is an increase in concentrations over time and BV. This is an indication that the GAC needs a number of BVs before it reaches the mass transfer equilibrium for the new flow. When the flow was changed

from having an EBCT of 5 minutes to 8 minutes this period of decreasing concentrations could not be seen in the figure. An explanation for this could be that the needed number of BVs to reach the new mass transfer equilibrium was lower when going from an EBCT of 5-8 minutes than going from an EBCT of 8-15 minutes. Furthermore, the period of decreasing concentrations between EBCT 5-8 minutes was never visualized in the figure because the time between the samples was to long.

If the increase in concentration for the last three samples of PFAS<sub>4</sub> after the first and the second stage is a result of the GAC reaching the new mass transfer equilibrium this would mean that this represents the increase for these BVs that would have occurred if the EBCT of 15 minutes would have been for the whole experiment. However, it cannot be fully confirmed that this is the case. It could also be a result of the PFAS<sub>4</sub> raw water concentration increasing during those three samples. It can be seen during the whole period in figure 4 that when the concentration in the raw water is increased for a point, such as the concentration in the 5th to last point, the concentrations after the first and second stage also increases slightly. Since the Lin & Huang adsorption modeling (1999) for EBCT 15 minutes is only based on the last three samples of EBCT 15 min, it is therefore unsure if the behaviour of the GAC at the EBCT of 15 minutes actually would behave as it is shown in figure 16.

The decreasing costs per weight of GAC with decreasing treatment goals seen in figure 17E and 17F are unreasonable. Therefore, any conclusion drawn from observing those graphs will be flawed. In order to confirm or disregard those conclusion a new 2-stage pilot study with a longer period of EBCT 15 minutes needs to be carried out. Also, a 2-stage pilot study that runs for a while and then replace the first filter with the second filter and replaces the newly moved second filter with a newly regenerated filter needs to be done in order to confirm that the concept explained in figure 6 developed in this thesis for the economic calculation is accurate in real life.

# 6 Conclusion

The first aim of this Master's thesis was to compare the removal of long and short chain PFAS at a two stage GAC pilot to a one stage pilot. The second aim was also to compare the costs of operating a full scale one stage GAC to a two stage GAC at a DWTP with respect to different treatment goals for the EBCT of 5, 8 and 15 minutes. This was done by concluding that the limit on PFAS<sub>4</sub> concentration was the most difficult to reach and therefore the economic calculation was done on reaching the PFAS<sub>4</sub> limit and not on reaching the PFAS<sub>21</sub> limit.

The removal efficiency was compared for the PFSAs and the PFCAs in the first and second stage. It was concluded that the removal efficiency decreases the shorter the chain length and the more BVs gets treated in both the first and the second stage. It was determined that the removal efficiency for the regenerated and the virgin GAC was not significantly different by detrending the series and comparing them with a T-test.

The modeling using The Lin & Huang adsorption model (1999) of the PFSAs and the PFCAs was made for the average first and second stage for the regenerate and the virgin GAC for the three EBCTs. The model worked good for the all PFSAs and PFOA but not for the shorter chained PFCAs. This lead to the conclusion that the model works well for all PFASs until desorption occurs.

The removal of PFAS per weight of GAC with respect to chain lengths of PFSAs and PFCAs in a 1 stage and a 2 stage GAC was performed for the three EBCTs in the experiment. The removal per weight of GAC per BV for the PFASs included is not increased in a two stage GAC system compared to a one stage GAC filtration.

The economic calculation was based on the Lin & Huang adsorption model (1999) for PFAS<sub>4</sub>. This was done on the average concentrations from the virgin and regenerated GAC for the three EBCTs of 5, 8 and 15 minutes respectively. It was found to be cheaper to operate a two stage GAC filtration compared to a one stage GAC when reaching the target of <4 ng/L for PFAS<sub>4</sub> at both the EBCT of 5 and 8 minutes. For 15 minutes, the cost per weight of GAC was decreasing for the second stage which is an unrealistic result and should be the object of further research. Additional future research should focus on modeling desorption of PFASs in order to fully understand the relationship between the GAC and the short chained PFASs.

# References

- Ahrens, L., Taniyasu, S., Yeung, L. W. Y., Yamashita, N., Lam, P. K. S., & Ebinghaus, R. (Apr. 2010). Distribution of polyfluoroalkyl compounds in water, suspended particulate matter and sediment from Tokyo Bay, Japan. en. *Chemosphere*, vol. 79 (3), pp. 266–272. DOI: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2010.01.045. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0045653510000937 [05/02/2023].
- Appleman, T. D., Higgins, C. P., Quiñones, O., Vanderford, B. J., Kolstad, C., Zeigler-Holady, J. C., & Dickenson, E. R. (Mar. 2014). Treatment of poly- and perfluoroalkyl substances in U.S. full-scale water treatment systems. en. *Water Research*, vol. 51, pp. 246–255. DOI: 10.1016/j.watres.2013.10.067. Available: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0043135413008932 [05/22/2023].
- Bartolomé, M., Gallego-Picó, A., Cutanda, F., Huetos, O., Esteban, M., Pérez-Gómez, B., & Castaño, A. (2017). *Perfluorinated alkyl substances in Spanish adults: Geographical distribution and determinants of exposure* | *Elsevier Enhanced Reader*. en. DOI: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.06.031. Available: https://reader.elsevier.com/reader/sd/pii/S0048969717314353?token=12C13F1B96B3C6B20C00D1E854437 4AD72BAAC953D2F28AF97AD59955D35B39DD5CEFDEC421CD7324F4C14621ED655F2&originRegio n=eu-west-1&originCreation=20230427122632 [04/27/2023].
- Beans, C. (Apr. 2021). How "forever chemicals" might impair the immune system. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, vol. 118 (15). Publisher: Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, e2105018118. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.2105018118. Available: https://www.pnas.org/doi/full/10.1073/pnas.2105018118 [10/29/2022].
- Belkouteb, N., Franke, V., McCleaf, P., Köhler, S., & Ahrens, L. (Sept. 2020). Removal of per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) in a full-scale drinking water treatment plant: Long-term performance of granular activated carbon (GAC) and influence of flow-rate. en. *Water Research*, vol. 182, p. 115913. DOI: 10.1016/j.watres.2020.115913. Available: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0043135420304504 [12/18/2022].
- Boiteux, V., Dauchy, X., Bach, C., Colin, A., Hemard, J., Sagres, V., Rosin, C., & Munoz, J.-F. (2017). Concentrations and patterns of perfluoroalkyl and polyfluoroalkyl substances in a river and three drinking water treatment plants near and far from a major production source | Elsevier Enhanced Reader. en. DOI: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.01.079. Available: https://reader.elsevier.com/reader/sd/pii/S0048969717300785?token =504419395FC3FF3DDE553A5469C7A0FB948F63B1387E89265C91FBF9F23A2F31954A2CF9727232 BEE110862119B38793&originRegion=eu-west-1&originCreation=20230427122951 [04/27/2023].
- Buck, R. C., Franklin, J., Berger, U., Conder, J. M., Cousins, I. T., Voogt, P. de, Jensen, A. A., Kannan, K., Mabury, S. A., & Leeuwen, S. P. van (Oct. 2011). Perfluoroalkyl and polyfluoroalkyl substances in the environment: Terminology, classification, and origins. en. *Integrated Environmental Assessment and Management*, vol. 7 (4), pp. 513–541. DOI: 10.1002/ieam.258. Available: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/ieam.258 [02/06/2023].
- CalgonCarbon (2019). Data sheet FILTRASORB® 400.
- Cantoni, B., Turolla, A., Wellmitz, J., Ruhl, A. S., & Antonelli, M. (Nov. 2021). Perfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) adsorption in drinking water by granular activated carbon: Influence of activated carbon and PFAS characteristics. en. *Science of The Total Environment*, vol. 795, p. 148821. DOI: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.148821. Available: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0048969721038936 [12/04/2022].
- Chang, S.-K. & Zainal, Z. (Jan. 2019). "Chapter 13 Activated Carbon for Supercapacitors". en. Synthesis, Technology and Applications of Carbon Nanomaterials. Ed. by S. A. Rashid, R. N. I. Raja Othman, & M. Z. Hussein. Micro and Nano Technologies. Elsevier, pp. 309–334. DOI: 10.1016/B978-0-12-815757-2.00012-7. Available:

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/B9780128157572000127 [04/28/2023].

- Chen, R., Huang, X., Li, G., Yu, Y., & Shi, B. (Nov. 2022). Performance of in-service granular activated carbon for perfluoroalkyl substances removal under changing water quality conditions. en. *Science of The Total Environment*, vol. 848, p. 157723. DOI: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.157723. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0048969722048227 [05/02/2023].
- Chow, S. J., Croll, H. C., Ojeda, N., Klamerus, J., Capelle, R., Oppenheimer, J., Jacangelo, J. G., Schwab, K. J., & Prasse, C. (Nov. 2022). Comparative investigation of PFAS adsorption onto activated carbon and anion exchange resins during long-term operation of a pilot treatment plant. en. *Water Research*, vol. 226, p. 119198. DOI: 10.1016/j.watres.2022.119198. Available: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0043135422011435 [05/22/2023].

Coker, A. K. (Jan. 2015). "Chapter 21 - Industrial and Laboratory Reactors – Chemical Reaction Hazards and Process Integration of Reactors". en. *Ludwig's Applied Process Design for Chemical and Petrochemical Plants* (*Fourth Edition*). Ed. by A. K. Coker. Boston: Gulf Professional Publishing, pp. 1095–1208. DOI: 10.1016/B978-0-08-094242-1.00021-8. Available:

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/B9780080942421000218 [06/10/2023].

- D'Hollander, W., De Voogt, P., De Coen, W., & Bervoets, L. (2010). "Perfluorinated Substances in Human Food and Other Sources of Human Exposure". en. *Reviews of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology Volume 208*. Ed. by P. De Voogt. Vol. 208. Series Title: Reviews of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology. New York, NY: Springer New York, pp. 179–215. DOI: 10.1007/978-1-4419-6880-7\_4. Available: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-1-4419-6880-7\_4 [05/22/2023].
- Dąbrowski, A. (Oct. 2001). Adsorption from theory to practice. en. *Advances in Colloid and Interface Science*, vol. 93 (1), pp. 135–224. DOI: 10.1016/S0001-8686(00)00082-8. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0001868600000828 [04/28/2023].
- Dickman, R. A. & Aga, D. S. (Aug. 2022). A review of recent studies on toxicity, sequestration, and degradation of per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS). en. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, vol. 436, p. 129120. DOI: 10.1016/j.jhazmat.2022.129120. Available: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0304389422009104 [12/04/2022].
- Domingo, J. L. & Nadal, M. (2019). Human exposure to per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) through drinking water\_A review of the recent scientific literature | Elsevier Enhanced Reader. en. DOI: 10.1016/j.envres.2019.108648. Available: https://reader.elsevier.com/reader/sd/pii/S0013935119304451?token =C95364EBEFF0843A24697D5A29ADFC8318A01A4F39C99DA8E1703EB8AAE93066D6866DBE20184 8574C9E24E0BDEC3AFB&originRegion=eu-west-1&originCreation=20230427123256 [04/27/2023].
- Enander, G. (2015). Utredningen om spridning av PFAS-föroreningar i dricksvatten (M 2015:B). sv.
- EPA (Aug. 2021). *PFAS Master List of PFAS Substances*. Available: https://comptox.epa.gov/dashboard/chemical-lists/pfasmaster [06/10/2023].
- Eriksson, U., Kärrman, A., Rotander, A., Mikkelsen, B., & Dam, M. (Nov. 2013). Perfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) in food and water from Faroe Islands. en. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, vol. 20 (11), pp. 7940–7948. DOI: 10.1007/s11356-013-1700-3. Available: https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-013-1700-3 [04/27/2023].
- Eschauzier, C., Beerendonk, E., Scholte, P., & De Voogt, P. (Dec. 2011). Impact of Treatment Processes on the Removal of Perfluoroalkyl Acids from the Drinking Water Production Chain. *Environmental science & technology*, vol. 46, pp. 1708–15. DOI: 10.1021/es201662b.
- Franke, V., McCleaf, P., Lindegren, K., & Ahrens, L. (2019). Efficient removal of per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) in drinking water treatment: nanofiltration combined with active carbon or anion exchange. en. *Environmental Science: Water Research & Technology*, vol. 5 (11), pp. 1836–1843. DOI: 10.1039/C9EW00286C. Available: http://xlink.rsc.org/?DOI=C9EW00286C [05/22/2023].
- Franke, V., Ullberg, M., McCleaf, P., Wålinder, M., Köhler, S. J., & Ahrens, L. (Apr. 2021). The Price of Really Clean Water: Combining Nanofiltration with Granular Activated Carbon and Anion Exchange Resins for the Removal of Per- And Polyfluoralkyl Substances (PFASs) in Drinking Water Production. en. ACS ES&T Water, vol. 1 (4), pp. 782–795. DOI: 10.1021/acsestwater.0c00141. Available: https://pubs.acs.org/doi/10.1021/acsestwater.0c00141 [03/10/2023].
- Gagliano, E., Sgroi, M., Falciglia, P. P., Vagliasindi, F. G., & Roccaro, P. (Mar. 2020). Removal of poly- and perfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) from water by adsorption: Role of PFAS chain length, effect of organic matter and challenges in adsorbent regeneration. en. *Water Research*, vol. 171, p. 115381. DOI: 10.1016/j.watres.2019.115381. Available: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0043135419311558 [12/18/2022].

Inglezakis, V. J. & Poulopoulos, S. G. (2006). Adsorption, Ion Exchange, and Catalysis. en.

Jacobi (2012). TECHNICAL DATASHEET AquaSorb® 6300.

- Kaboré, H. A., Duy, S. V., Munoz, G., Méité, L., Desrosiers, M., Liu, J., Sory, T. K., & Sauvé, S. (2018). Worldwide drinking water occurrence and levels of newly-identified perfluoroalkyl and polyfluoroalkyl substances | Elsevier Enhanced Reader. en. DOI: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.10.210. Available: https://reader.elsevier.com/reader/sd/pii/S0048969717329285?token=866396E7DFFA3C8F3E942FF616C1
   A 2226582880 AOCP 4F0421FP3046628FA25P0514F424276820044FF00D60A1C0A4D46 & prinipRegion and polyfluoroalkyl substances and polyfluoroalky
  - A3236583880A0CB4F0421EB2946628FA25B9514F434276830044FF90D69A1C9A4D46&originRegion=eu -west-1&originCreation=20230427114636 [04/27/2023].
- Karbassiyazdi, E., Kasula, M., Modak, S., Pala, J., Kalantari, M., Altaee, A., Esfahani, M. R., & Razmjou, A. (Jan. 2023). A juxtaposed review on adsorptive removal of PFAS by metal-organic frameworks (MOFs) with

carbon-based materials, ion exchange resins, and polymer adsorbents. en. *Chemosphere*, vol. 311, p. 136933. DOI: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2022.136933. Available:

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0045653522034269 [12/18/2022].

- Katam, K. & Bhattacharyya, D. (Jan. 2022). "Chapter 13 Occurrence, fate, and persistence of per- and poly-fluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) in drinking water treatment systems". en. *Current Developments in Biotechnology and Bioengineering*. Ed. by S. Pilli, P. Bhunia, V. Tyagi, R. Tyagi, J. Wong, & A. Pandey. Elsevier, pp. 247–283. DOI: 10.1016/B978-0-323-99906-9.00014-0. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/B9780323999069000140 [12/18/2022].
- Lapworth, D., Das, P., Shaw, A., Mukherjee, A., Civil, W., J.O. Petersen, D.C. Gooddy, O. Wakefield, A. Finlayson, G. Krishan, P. Sengupta, & A.M. MacDonald (2018). *Deep urban groundwater vulnerability in India revealed through the use of emerging organic contaminants and residence time tracers* | *Elsevier Enhanced Reader*. en. DOI: 10.1016/j.envpol.2018.04.053. Available: https://reader.elsevier.com/reader/sd/pii/S0269749117347371?to ken=1537210E97732A888D7954C1351626EEA160D1D4BE66C65E672D71AAA4FB8BFA0238C90588E9 DA4F5B20DEB2FEF0DE88&originRegion=eu-west-1&originCreation=20230427123042 [04/27/2023].
- Li, F., Duan, J., Tian, S., Ji, H., Zhu, Y., Wei, Z., & Zhao, D. (Jan. 2020). Short-chain per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances in aquatic systems: Occurrence, impacts and treatment. en. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, vol. 380, p. 122506. DOI: 10.1016/j.cej.2019.122506. Available:
- https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1385894719319096 [12/03/2022]. Lin, S. H. & Huang, C. Y. (1999). Adsorption of BTEX from aqueous solution by macroreticular resins. en. DOI: 10.1016/S0304-3894(99)00148-X. Available: https://reader.elsevier.com/reader/sd/pii/S030438949900148X?tok en=5EEC2C4FF4F0A66DA64462B9BBC062384FB22EDBAEDF0480078A6B9F336131288BEF2C09C895 76A871A9281A040B347D&originRegion=eu-west-1&originCreation=20230405141447 [04/05/2023].
- Liu, B., Zhang, H., Li, J., Dong, W., & Xie, L. (Apr. 2017). Perfluoroalkyl acids (PFAAs) in sediments from rivers of the Pearl River Delta, southern China. en. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, vol. 189 (5), p. 213. DOI: 10.1007/s10661-017-5921-7. Available: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-017-5921-7 [04/27/2023].
- Livsmedelsverket (May 2022). *Riskhantering PFAS i dricksvatten och egenfångad fisk*. sv. Available: https://www.livsmedelsverket.se/foretagande-regler-kontroll/dricksvattenproduktion/riskhantering-pfas-i-dric ksvatten-egenfangad-fisk [11/03/2022].
- Lu, Z., Lu, R., Zheng, H.-Y., Yan, J., Song, L., Wang, J., HaizhenYang, & Cai, M. (Apr. 2018). Risk exposure assessment of per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) in drinking water and atmosphere in central eastern China. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, vol. 25. DOI: 10.1007/s11356-017-0950-x.
- Marsh, H., Rodríguez Reinoso, F., & Rodriguez-Reinoso, F. (2006). *Activated Carbon*. Oxford, UNITED KINGDOM: Elsevier Science & Technology. Available:
- http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/uu/detail.action?docID=269972 [04/28/2023].
- McCleaf, P., Englund, S., Östlund, A., Lindegren, K., Wiberg, K., & Ahrens, L. (Sept. 2017). Removal efficiency of multiple poly- and perfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) in drinking water using granular activated carbon (GAC) and anion exchange (AE) column tests. en. *Water Research*, vol. 120, pp. 77–87. DOI: 10.1016/j.watres.2017.04.057. Available: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0043135417303251 [03/01/2023].
- Miljøstyrelsen (2021). Oversigt over PFAS-grænseværdier\_. da.
- Nicole, W. (Nov. 2020). *Breaking It Down: Estimating Short-Chain PFAS Half-Lives in a Human Population*. en. DOI: 10.1289/EHP7853. Available: https://ehp.niehs.nih.gov/doi/epdf/10.1289/EHP7853 [05/22/2023].
- Pelch, K. E., Reade, A., Kwiatkowski, C. F., Merced-Nieves, F. M., Cavalier, H., Schultz, K., Wolffe, T., & Varshavsky, J. (2022). *The PFAS-Tox Database: A systematic evidence map of health studies on 29 per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances* | *Elsevier Enhanced Reader*. en. DOI: 10.1016/j.envint.2022.107408. Available: https://reader.elsevier.com/reader/sd/pii/S016041202200335X?token=4FB95411B61EEC54CE95DAA6618 BECC47157A259129AE79EB303A91E046B671F4D4BD1A3C9EBEAC1811ED0BEDEBCB361&originRe gion=eu-west-1&originCreation=20221203111844 [12/03/2022].
- Phong Vo, H. N., Ngo, H. H., Guo, W., Hong Nguyen, T. M., Li, J., Liang, H., Deng, L., Chen, Z., & Hang Nguyen, T. A. (Aug. 2020). Poly-and perfluoroalkyl substances in water and wastewater: A comprehensive review from sources to remediation. en. *Journal of Water Process Engineering*, vol. 36, p. 101393. DOI: 10.1016/j.jwpe.2020.101393. Available: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S2214714420302713 [12/18/2022].
- Schwanz, T. G., Llorca, M., Farré, M., & Barceló, D. (2016). *Perfluoroalkyl substances assessment in drinking waters from Brazil, France and Spain* | *Elsevier Enhanced Reader*. en. DOI: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.08.034. Available: https://reader.elsevier.com/reader/sd/pii/S0048969715305398?token=9B70D214DC19FDF04A345

F0554AAA1221550AD395AC57A50BB5B85839251AA230C4E37C480DAECAC75A187792D8CD803&or iginRegion=eu-west-1&originCreation=20230427122029 [04/27/2023].

- Silberberg, M. S. (S. (2013). *Principles of general chemistry*. eng. 3rd ed. Publication Title: Principles of general chemistry. New York: McGraw-Hill Higher Education.
- Son, H., Ryu, D.-C., & Jang, S.-H. (Jan. 2010). Effect of Pore Structure Change on the Adsorption of NOM and THMs in Water Due to the Increase of Reactivation Number of Coal-based Activated Carbon. *Journal of Korean Society of Environmental Engineers*, vol. 32.
- Sonmez Baghirzade, B., Zhang, Y., Reuther, J. F., Saleh, N. B., Venkatesan, A. K., & Apul, O. G. (May 2021). Thermal Regeneration of Spent Granular Activated Carbon Presents an Opportunity to Break the Forever PFAS Cycle. en. *Environmental Science & Technology*, vol. 55 (9), pp. 5608–5619. DOI: 10.1021/acs.est.0c08224. Available: https://pubs.acs.org/doi/10.1021/acs.est.0c08224 [04/27/2023].
- Swedish Chemicals Agency (2015). Occurrence and use of highly fluorinated substances and alternatives, Report 7/15. en. Available: https://www.kemi.se/download/18.6df1d3df171c243fb23a98ea/1591454109137/report-7-15 -occurrence-and-use-of-highly-fluorinated-substances-and-alternatives.pdf.
- Vahala, R. (Nov. 2002). Two-Step Granular Activated Carbon Filtration in Drinking Water Treatment. 951-22-6163-4.
- Wang, Lin, Z., He, X., Song, M., Westerhoff, P., Doudrick, K., & Hanigan, D. (May 2022). Critical Review of Thermal Decomposition of Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances: Mechanisms and Implications for Thermal Treatment Processes. en. *Environmental Science & Technology*, vol. 56 (9), pp. 5355–5370. DOI: 10.1021/acs.est.2c02251. Available: https://pubs.acs.org/doi/10.1021/acs.est.2c02251 [04/27/2023].
- Wang, T., Wang, P., Meng, J., Liu, S., Lu, Y., Khim, J. S., & Giesy, J. P. (2015). A review of sources, multimedia distribution and health risks of perfluoroalkyl acids (PFAAs) in China | Elsevier Enhanced Reader. en. DOI: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2014.09.021. Available: https://reader.elsevier.com/reader/sd/pii/S0045653514010881?t oken=891012A1510191ADAEFF71BA496A0C15032FBA7BAFE957A433289D99FB159A7DB8BCD8A9 EA6E3483AE636D87760FB61E&originRegion=eu-west-1&originCreation=20230427115424 [04/27/2023].
- Wang, Z., DeWitt, J. C., Higgins, C. P., & Cousins, I. T. (Mar. 2017). A Never-Ending Story of Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances (PFASs)? en. *Environmental Science & Technology*, vol. 51 (5), pp. 2508–2518. DOI: 10.1021/acs.est.6b04806. Available: https://pubs.acs.org/doi/10.1021/acs.est.6b04806 [10/29/2022].
- Wilhelm, M., Bergmann, S., & Dieter, H. H. (2010). Occurrence of perfluorinated compounds (PFCs) in drinking water of North Rhine-Westphalia, Germany and new approach to assess drinking water contamination by shorter-chained C4–C7 PFCs | Elsevier Enhanced Reader. en. DOI: 10.1016/j.ijheh.2010.05.004. Available: https://reader.elsevier.com/reader/sd/pii/S1438463910000532?token=D31DD05773791055C951793C0D9111 9B69210F563AF43DB96258BE0EC5FF7A0FBFC331FBB143BD2AABB63049485EC2C0&originRegion=e u-west-1&originCreation=20230427115839 [04/27/2023].
- Yadav, S., Ibrar, I., Al-Juboori, R. A., Singh, L., Ganbat, N., Kazwini, T., Karbassiyazdi, E., Samal, A. K., Subbiah, S., & Altaee, A. (June 2022). Updated review on emerging technologies for PFAS contaminated water treatment. en. *Chemical Engineering Research and Design*, vol. 182, pp. 667–700. DOI: 10.1016/j.cherd.2022.04.009. Available: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0263876222001733 [12/18/2022].
- Zaggia, A., Conte, L., Falletti, L., Fant, M., & Chiorboli, A. (Mar. 2016). Use of strong anion exchange resins for the removal of perfluoroalkylated substances from contaminated drinking water in batch and continuous pilot plants. en. *Water Research*, vol. 91, pp. 137–146. DOI: 10.1016/j.watres.2015.12.039. Available: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0043135415304371 [12/18/2022].

# Appendix

The analyzed PFASs, PFAS<sub>4</sub>, PFAS 11, PFAS 20 and PFAS 21 can be seen in table A1.

	Analyzed PFAS	PFAS <sub>4</sub>	PFAS 11	PFAS 20	PFAS 21
1	PFBA	PFOA	PFBA	PFBA	PFBA
2	PFPeA	PFOS	PFPA	PFPA	PFPA
3	PFHxA	PFHxS	PFHxA	PFHxA	PFHxA
4	PFHpA	PFNA	PFHpA	PFHpA	PFHpA
5	PFOA		PFOA	PFOA	PFOA
6	PFNA		PFNA	PFNA	PFNA
7	PFDA		PFDA	PFDA	PFDA
8	PFBS		PFBS	PFUnDA	PFUnDA
9	PFHxS		PFHxS	PFDoDA	PFDoDA
10	PFOS		PFOS	PFTrDA	PFTrDA
11	6:2 FTS		6:2 FTS	PFBS	PFBS
12	PFUnDA			PFPS	PFPS
13	PFDoDA			PFHxS	PFHxS
14	PFTrDA			PFHpS	PFHpS
15	PFPeS			PFOS	PFOS
16	PFHpS			PFNS	PFNS
17	PFNS			PFDS	PFDS
18	PFDS			PFUnDS	PFUnDS
19	PFUnDS			PFDoDS	PFDoDS
20	PFDoDS			PFTrDS	PFTrDS
21	PFTrDS				6:2 FTS
22	4:2 FTS				
23	8:2 FTS				
24	FOSA				
25	MeFOSA				
26	EtFOSA				
27	MeFOSE				
28	EtFOSE				
29	FOSAA				
30	MeFOSAA				
31	<b>EtFOSAA</b>				
32	HPFHpA				
33	PF37DMOA				
34	PFTeDA				

Table A1: PFAS.



The removal of PFAS per weight of GAC for the first stage and the second stage can be seen in figure A1.

Figure A1: (A) PFSA removal EBCT 5 min, (B) PFSA removal EBCT 9 min, (C) PFSA removal EBCT 15 min (D) PFCA removal EBCT 5 min, (E) PFCA removal EBCT 9 min and (F) PFCA removal EBCT 15 min. EBCT 5 min represents 0-26000 BVs, EBCT 9 min represents 26000-45000 BVs and EBCT 15 min represents 45000-50000 BVs. Blue is removal in stage 1 and orange is removal in stage 2. The removal is represented by ng PFAS removed/g GAC/BV.



The visualisation for the regenerated filters can be seen in figure A2.

Figure A2: The modeled concentrations and the real concentrations for the whole period.



The linear fitting the modeled concentrations for the regenerated filters can be seen in figure A3

Figure A3: (A) The Lin & Huang linear fitting (1999) for the regenerated GAC where blue is stage 1 and yellow is stage 2. Circle dots are EBCT 5 min phase 1, squares are EBCT 5 min phase 2, triangles are EBCT 9 minutes and dimonds are EBCT 15 min. (B) The modeled concentrations (dotted lines), the real concentrations (solid line) and the intercepts of 2, 4, 6, 8, 10 ng/L (X marks). In the figure, EBCTs of 5, 9 and 15 minutes can be seen from left to right for the first stage (red) and the second stage (green) induvidually.